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A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER 

Bill Dwayne Wheeler, Jr., appellant below, asks this court to accept 

review of the decision designated in Part B of this motion. 

B. DECISION 

Petitioner seeks review of the decision terminating review filed in his 

case on April 4, 2016, which affirmed his conviction for sexual exploitation 

of a minor, sixteen year-old M.S. 

A copy of the decision is in the Appendix to this petition at pages 

A-1 though A-24. 

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

1. Does the government's outrageous conduct require dismissal 
of charges, where the only image of a minor being sexually exploited 
presented at trial on that charge was not taken by the defendant but was 
taken by an undercover officer who paid the minor to expose her breasts and 
did so without making any effort to determine her age? 

2. Can outrageous government conduct in gathering evidence 
be excused on policy grounds -- that the police may engage in criminal 
activity to investigate criminal conduct -- where the Legislature has enacted 
a specific statute establishing the public policy that it is not a defense to 
prosecution for sexual exploitation of a minor that the perpetrator was 
involved in law enforcement? 

3. If a defendant legally operates a bikini espresso stand to earn 
a profit and gives the best shifts to his most successful baristas, is this 
sufficient evidence that he "invited or caused" a sixteen-year-old barista to 
engage in sexually explicit conduct because she could earn more in tips if 
she did? 

4. Is a defendant who is charged with sexual exploitation of a 
minor after a sixteen-year-old barista who works for him is arrested for 
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exposing her breasts at the request of an undercover police officer, 
impermissibly and unfairly prejudiced by evidence - not just that adults 
baristas gave "shows" to customers -but of repetitious and detailed 
descriptions oftheir lewd conduct and graphic videotapes of it? 

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

a. Overview 

The Snohomish County Prosecutor's Office charged appellant Bill 

Wheeler, Jr. with sexually exploiting a minor, CP 440-441, and a jury 

convicted him as charged. CP 136. 

The charge arose from a police undercover investigation of the 

baristas who worked at Mr. Wheeler's two Grab 'n Go bikini espresso 

stands. RP(7/23) 115, 120-123; RP(7/24) 43; RP(7/25) 85-86. 1 Posing as 

a customer, Everett Police Detective Jeffrey Nevin secretly videotaped the 

baristas when they exposed their genitals and breasts to him at his request. 

RP(7/23) 124-130, 146-156, 158-175; RP(7/24) 29-34. M.S. exposed her 

breasts for Nevin, enabling him to surreptitiously videotape her, after he 

placed tip money in her underwear. RP(7/24) 42, 69. When the baristas 

he recorded giving shows were arrested, the police learned that M.S. was 

sixteen years old. RP(7/24) 33-37. Mr. Wheeler was charged with sexual 

exploitation of a minor as a result. 

1 The verbatim report of proceedings is designated by date of the hearing 
or trial, e.g. RP(7/24) is the report of proceedings for July 241

h. The 
verbatim report of proceeding of closing arguments is designated RP( sup). 
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Two things were undisputed at trial: (1) that Mr. Wheeler never 

asked any ofthe baristas, including M.S., to give these shows, RP(7 /25) 

108-1 09; RP(7 /25) 68, 1 08; RP(7 /28) 16, 25-26, and (2) that the only 

photograph or video of M.S. giving a show introduced at trial was the one 

taken by Detective Nevin of her exposing her breasts for him. RP(7/24) 

42, 69, 71; CP 170-171. 

Mr. Wheeler was nevertheless charged with a crime, even though 

he never asked M.S. to give a show; and Detective Nevin, who did, 

received a grant of immunity from prosecution from the City of Everett 

and State of Washington for his actions in encouraging M.S. to expose 

herself and recording her. RP(7/24) 42, 69; CP 170-171. 

b. The state's theory 

The state's theory- which was adopted by the Court of Appeals-­

was that Mr. Wheeler was guilty because the baristas who worked for him 

were motivated to give shows to make more money in tips and to get 

scheduled for better shifts because they presumably sold more coffee. 

RP(8/1) 12. Not all baristas performed shows, however, RP(7/24) 103, 

and M.S. herself testified that she only flashed her breasts to a couple of 

the approximately sixty customers who came through the stand on an 

average shift. RP(7 /24) 141. 
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The baristas did work for tips. RP(7/24) 126; RP(7/25) 103, 152. 

They thought that those who had the most customers got the best shifts, 

but there were no requirements for them other than they have at least $150 

from the sale of coffee in the till at the end of a weekend shift and $300 at 

the end of week days shifts. RP(7/24) 133-134, 140; RP(7/25) 105-108; 

RP(7 /28) 78-79. And while there was testimony that the baristas had to 

make up any shortfall, none of the baristas recalled ever having to do this 

except in one or two extraordinary circumstances. RP(7/24) 137-138; 

RP(7/24) 152 .. 

Further, all of the baristas agreed that they received $20 tips 

without having performed a show and that not all customers requested 

shows. RP(7/24) 8; RP(7/250 65. Estimates of how much a barista earned 

in tips a shift varied from $400-$500 to $300-$400- with the estimate, by 

baristas who were asked, that they made $50 to $1 00 more a shift for 

doing shows. RP(7 /25) 69. There was no evidence presented by the state 

at trial demonstrating a quantified or significant increase in the amount of 

money Mr. Wheeler, rather than the baristas, made because of the shows. 

It was part of the state's theory that Mr. Wheeler was aware of the 

shows from reviewing the security surveillance videos. RP(7 /25) 131; 

RP(7/28) 79. However, only M.S. and two other baristas said that Mr. 

Wheeler reviewed some of the video footage for a shift in which they had 
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performed shows; none said they saw themselves giving a show in the 

footage. RP(7/4) 81-83, RP(7/25) 111, 154-55 And, although a number 

of deleted images were recovered from Mr. Wheeler's phone, none of 

them showed any ofthe baristas giving a show. RP(7 /29&30) 80-81 Of 

the 480 images recovered from his phone - including images from deleted 

files-- none depicted any shows and at most two were of M.S. 

RP(7 /29&30) 79-81. 

c. Overwhelming evidence of adult baristas giving shows 

Notwithstanding that M.S. was the only alleged victim, most of the 

trial evidence related to the shows performed by the other, adult baristas. 

This included: (a) Detective Nevin's detailed descriptions of adult 

baristas performing shows and the circumstances surrounding each 

encounter with them (RP(9/23) 124-184; RP(7/24) 29-33); (b) the video 

clips actually showing performances by each barista and narrated in detail 

by Nevin (RP(7/23) 166-184; RP(7/24) 13-14); (c) testimony by four of 

the adult baristas which included their admission that they performed 

shows (RP(7/25) 107-108, 155, 162; RP(7/28) 14-16); and (d) testimony 

about the surveillance systems at the stands and clips of footage recorded 

there after the charging period involving the adult baristas. The only 

instance in which the court limited evidence of the adult baristas, as 

requested by the defense, was to exclude one clip of a barista from an 
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after-the-charging-period recording who had never been previously 

mentioned during the trial. RP(7 /23) 6, 18-21 RP(7 /29&30) 115. 

E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED 

1. REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED UNDER RAP 
13.4(B) (1), (3) AND (4). THE DECISION OF THE 
COURT OF APPEALS EXCUSING THE 
OUTRAGEOUS GOVERNMENTAL MISCONDUCT 
OF AN OFFICER'S SOLICITING AND 
VIDEOTAPING A MINOR BARING HER BREASTS 
IS IN CONFLICT WITH THE DECISION OF THIS 
COURT IN STATE V. LIVELY, RAISES A 
CONSTITUTIONAL ISSUE AND AN ISSUE OF 
SUBSTANTIAL PUBLIC IMPORANCE. 

Contrary to the holding of the Court of Appeals in this case, the 

actions by the state were "so shocking" that they violated due process. 

See Slip Op. at 10. Review should be granted because the decision ofthe 

Court of Appeals excusing the outrageous conduct by the state is contrary 

to the decision ofthis court in State v. Lively, 130 Wn,2d 1, 20, 921 P.2d 

1035 (1996), and because outrageous governmental conduct is an issue of 

constitutional dimension and an issue of substantial public importance 

which should be decided by this court. 

The state conceded prior to trial that there was no evidence that 

Mr. Wheeler asked any of the baristas who worked for him to do shows, 

(RP(7/23) 26); and conceded in closing argument to the jury, that Mr. 

Wheeler never said that M.S. needed to do shows. RP(8/4) 4. The state 
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charged and convicted him of exploiting M.S. on the theory that giving the 

baristas who sold the most coffee the best shifts caused M.S. to engage in 

sexually explicit conduct with customers. 

In contrast, Detective Nevin expressly asked M.S. to perform for 

him and paid her to do it knowing that he would surreptitiously videotape 

her, and yet he was granted immunity by the state. RP(7/24) 42, 69. He 

asked her to perform without making any effort to determine her age. 

Like the trial court, the Court of Appeals excused Nevin's 

behavior: "Public policy allows for some deceitful conduct and violation 

of criminal laws by the police in order to detect and eliminate criminal 

activity." Slip Op. at 10, 13 (citing State v. Lively, 130 Wn.2d at 20). 

Public policy in Washington, however, is very clear: every person 

is charged, on penalty of a felony conviction, with making a reasonable 

bona fide attempt to determine that anyone he or she aids, invites, or 

causes to engage in sexually explicit conduct in order to photograph their 

performance is not a minor. Relying solely on the apparent age of the 

minor is insufficient. 

(3) In a prosecution under RCW 9.68A.040 ... , it is 
not a defense that the defendant did not know the alleged 
victim's age. It is a defense, which the defendant must 
prove by a preponderance of the evidence, that at the time 
of the offense, the defendant made a reasonable bona fide 
attempt to ascertain the true age of the minor by requiring 
production of a driver's license, marriage license, birth certificate, 
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or other governmental or educational identification card or paper 
and did not rely solely on the oral allegations or apparent age of 
the minor. 

RCW 9.68A.11 0. The Legislature expressly extended this responsibility 

to police officers conducting an investigation: 

(1) In a prosecution under RCW 9.68A.040, it is not a 
defense that the defendant was involved in activities of law 
enforcement and prosecution agencies in the investigation and 
prosecution of criminal offenses .... 

RCW 9.98A.110. Thus, as a matter of public policy in Washington, the 

police may not sexually exploit minors in order to detect other criminal 

activity. The Legislature considered and rejected that minors should be 

used in this way, particularly where the police make no effort to determine 

the age of the minor they are using in their investigation. 

Contrary to the holding ofthe Court of Appeals, Slip Op. at 12-13, 

this is one of the rare cases in which police conduct shocks the conscience 

such that it violates the state and federal due process requirements. 

"[O]utrageous conduct is founded on the principle that the conduct 

of law enforcement officers and informants may be 'so outrageous that 

due process principles would absolutely bar the government from 

invoking judicial processes to obtain a conviction."' State v. Lively, 130 

Wn.2d at 19 (quoting United States v. Russell, 411 U.S. 423,431-432,93 

S. Ct. 1637, 36 L. Ed. 2d 366 (1973)). The focus ofthe outrageous 
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conduct inquiry is the conduct of the state. Lively, 130 Wn.2d at 10, 19; 

United States v. Luttrell, 889 F.2d 806, 811 (9th Cir, 1989. 

While deceitful conduct and violations of the law alone are not 

sufficient to establish the due process violation, instances in which the 

government controls the criminal activity rather than simply allowing it to 

occur, instigates the activity or financially encourages it may be sufficient. 

Lively, at 22 (citing United States v. Harris, 997 F.2d 812, 816 (lOth Cir. 

1993); United States v. Corcionne, 592 F.2d Ill, 115 (2d Cir.), cert. 

denied. 440 U.S. 975 and 440 U.S. 985 (1979)). 

Here, Detective Nevin did not simply allow activity to go on, he 

solicited it. He knew he would capture it on videotape and that M.S. 

would not expose herself to him unless he asked her to. He paid for M.S. 

to expose her breasts. His involvement was extensive- he made up a 

false story, acted to gain M.S.'s confidence, asked her for the show and 

gave her a financial incentive to perform a sexually explicit show. 

Detective Nevin's conduct itselfwas clearly criminal and "repugnant to a 

sense of justice." It was the fruit of his criminal conduct which provided 

the direct evidence used to prosecute Mr. Wheeler, and he received 

immunity to avoid prosecution himself. 

Detective Nevin did not need to tape M.S. And most significantly 

he made no effort to find out her name and age prior to asking her to give 
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a show for him. M.S. had been candid about her age to others and there is 

every reason to believe that if Detective Nevin had simply taken the 

precaution of asking her, he would have known for sure she was a minor. 

And certainly a police officer who knows he will be trying to obtain and 

photograph a live performance must take care to determine the age of an 

obviously young person he will be soliciting. 

Detective Nevin victimized M.S. His conduct created the harm 

that the statute criminalizing sexual exploitation of a minor was enacted to 

prevent, and it is "repugnant to a sense of justice" to utilize the fruits of 

this conduct to invoke the criminal process to obtain a conviction with it. 

Lively, supra and Russell, supra. Review should be accepted on this issue. 

2. REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED UNDER 
RAP 13.4(B) (1). (2). (3) AND (4) BECAUSE THE 
HOLDING THAT THERE WAS SUFFICIENT 
EVIDENCE TO SUPPORT MR. WHEELER'S 
CONVICTION IS CONTRARY TO THE DECISIONS 
IN STATE V. CHESTER AND STATE V. WHIPPLE, 
BECAUSE THE ISSUE IS A CONSTITUTIONAL 
ISSUE AND BECAUSE IT IS AN ISSUE OF 
SUBSTANTIAL PUBLIC IMPORTANCE. 

Given that Mr. Wheeler never asked or in any way pressured M.S. 

to perform shows, the state's theory was that he-- simply through his 

business practices-- forced M.S. to do them. RP(8/1) 12. The Court of 

Appeals erroneously agreed that this was sufficient, Slip Op. at 8-9. In so 

holding, the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with the 
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holdings ofthis court in State v. Chester, 133 Wn.2d 15,22-23, 940 P.2d 

1374 (1997), and the decision ofthe Court of Appeals in State v. Whipple, 

144 Wn. App. 654, 183 P.3d 1105 (2008). Chester and Whipple hold that 

because the verbs in the sexual exploitation statute are active verbs, 

"[ e ]ach requires some affirmative act of assistance, interaction, influence 

or communication on the part of the defendant which initiates or results in 

a child's display of sexually explicit conduct." 

According to the Court of Appeals these facts were sufficient to 

establish Mr. Wheeler's guilt of sexually exploiting M.S.: (a) that the 

baristas were not paid an hourly wage, (b) that they made significantly less 

money when they did not give shows, (c) that Mr. Wheeler scheduled the 

baristas who sold the most coffee to the best shifts, (d) that the baristas 

were required to have at least $150 in the till at the end of a weekend shift 

or $300 at the end of a weekday shift, and (e) that M.S. believed that the 

girls who gave the most shows made the most money. Slip Op. at 7-8. 

As in Chester and Whipple this evidence fails to establish that Mr. 

Wheeler affirmatively communicated to M.S. that she should give shows 

or that he did any affirmative act which induced her to perform shows. 

RP(7/24) 68. 

The Court, in Chester, held that the evidence was insufficient to 

sustain a conviction where the defendant secretly videotaped his 
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stepdaughter while she was dressing for school. In State v. Whipple, 144 

Wn. App. 654, 183 P.3d 1105 (2008), the court held the evidence to be 

insufficient where it did not appear the stepdaughter knew she was being 

photographed.2 The Chester Court held that even though the defendant 

placed the camera hoping to film his stepdaughter in the nude and 

intending to observe her getting dressed, he did not communicate with or 

assist her in any way. In contrast, the evidence was sufficient where the 

defendant photographed a minor in the bathtub over her objection and 

coaxed her into assuming certain positions; the defendant was held to have 

actively invited the conduct. State v. Myers, 82 Wn. App. 435,439,918 

P.2d 182 (1966), affd 133 Wn.2d 26,941 P.2d 1102 (1977). 

Like Chester, there was no evidence that Mr. Wheeler invited or 

caused the shows by M.S. 

First, it was not inevitable that a barista working at the Grab 'n Go 

espresso stands would give shows, nor were they asked or forced to give 

them. RP(7/24) 103. Second, M.S. did not offer to give shows; she gave 

them when asked by customers such as Detective Nevin. RP(7/23) 161-

164; RP(7/24) 141). There was no evidence that, absent this independent 

inducement, M.S. would have performed shows. 

2 In State v. Stribling, 164 Wn, App. 867, 267 P.3d 423 (2011), the 
evidence was insufficient because the minor the defendant invited to send 
him a nude photograph did not do so. 
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That Mr. Wheeler ran a business, hired women to sell coffee while 

scantily dressed, RP(7/24) 123-124, RP(7/25) 102-103, 150; RP(7/25) 9-

10, 72-73, and scheduled the women who were most successful to work 

the shifts when the stands were busiest, RP(7/24) 140; RP(7/25) 106-108; 

RP(7 /28) 78-79, was not illegal. Nor was it illegal to require that baristas 

to meet quotas for coffee sales during their shifts or work for tips. And the 

testimony about the quotas showed that the baristas rarely- virtually 

never-- had to make up a shortfall. RP(7/24) 137-138; RP(7/24) 152. 

And while baristas testified that they made more in tips when they 

gave shows, this was estimated to be between $50 to $100 for a shift. 

RP(7/25) 69; (RP(7/25) 120). M.S., who flashed her breasts only a couple 

of times in a shift, likely increased her tips by less. RP(7/24) 124. 

As the Court of Appeals held, working at the Grab 'n Go espresso 

stands provided M.S. with the opportunity and economic incentive to 

engage in sexually explicit conduct; she at least arguably made more 

money in tips when she did that. But this was insufficient evidence that 

Mr. Wheeler invited or caused her to perform live shows. 

As reported in an article by Patricia Cohen in the Business Day 

section ofThe New York Times, on January 12,2015, according to an 

analysis by the Institute on Taxation and Economic Policy, the lowest 

wage earners in Washington State, which would include most baristas, 
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effectively pay 16.8% of their earnings in taxes, while the wealthiest pay 

only 2.4%; this is among the highest taxation rate on the poorest wage 

earners in the nation. This economic reality might also provide incentives 

for baristas to give shows to earn more money, but few would argue that if 

makes the government guilty of sexually exploiting baristas. 

The evidence was insufficient to establish that Mr. Wheeler 

actively and affirmatively invited or caused M.S. to give a show. This 

issue is one of constitutional magnitude and an issue of substantial public 

importance which should be decided by this court. 

Constitutional due process requires that in any criminal 

prosecution, every fact necessary to constitute the crime charged must be 

proven by the state beyond a reasonable doubt. In re Winship. 397 U.S. 

358, 364,25 L. Ed. 2d 368 (1970). The issue ofwhether legal economic 

incentive is sufficient to constitute a crime is also one of substantial public 

importance. Review should be granted under RAP 13.4(b) (1), (2), (3), 

and (4). 
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3. REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED ON THE ISSUE 
OF WHETHER THE STATE WAS PROPERLY 
ALLOWED TO PRESENT CUMULATIVE AND 
GRAPHIC EVIDENCE THAT ADULT BARISTAS 
GAVE SHOWS WHILE WORKING AT ESPRESSO 
STANDS; THE DECISION OF THE COURT OF 
APPEALS IS IN CONFLICT WITH THE DECISION 
OF THIS COURT IN STATE V. LOUGH, AND IT IS 
AN ISSUE OF SUBSTANTIAL PUBLIC 
IMPORTANCE WHICH SHOULD BE DECIDED BY 
THIS COURT. 

Review should be accepted because the issue of whether the state 

was properly allowed to present cumulative and graphic evidence focused 

on the details of the lewd actions by adult baristas, which was of no 

relevance and great unfair prejudice, is an issue of substantial public 

importance which should be decided by this court. This not only denied 

Mr. Wheeler his right to trial on the sexual exploitation of a minor charge 

based on the evidence against him, it was also insensitive towards the 

jurors and the baristas whose sexually-explicit conduct was shown 

unnecessarily to the jurors and public. According to his testimony, 

Detective Nevin was investigating the espresso stands because of 

complaints from members of the public who were offended by the shows 

the baristas were giving for customers. (RP(7/23) 121-122). The jurors 

were likely offended as well. 

Review should be accepted because the decision of the Court of 

Appeals is in conflict with the decision of this Court in State v. Lough, 125 
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Wn.2d 847, 853, 889 P.2d 487, 489 (1995), which holds that evidence of 

other bad acts of an accused is never admissible to show that a defendant is 

the type of person likely to have committed the crime charged or admitted to 

raise a presumption of guilt. The evidence of the adult baristas' exposing 

themselves to customers associated Mr. Wheeler with the conduct, as the 

state asked the jury to do. The taped performances and explicit, detailed 

descriptions of the shows inevitably engendered unfair prejudice against 

him. It unfairly invited the jury to find him guilty merely because this 

conduct of adult baristas occurred at his espresso stands -- whether or not 

he invited or caused M.S., or them, to engage in shows. 

The Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court's reasoning that 

evidence of the adult barista's lewd conduct was part of the res geste of 

the crime, and was relevant to show a common scheme or plan or business 

practice and to show Mr. Wheeler's knowledge. Slip Op. at 20-21. The 

Court of Appeals further agreed with the trial court that the evidence was 

"unpleasant," but not "direct prejudice." Id. The Court of Appeals 

apparently rejected the argument that most of the evidence was cumulative 

and unnecessary- a conclusion that the trial court considered as a 

possibility. RP(7/23) 36-37. 

It was error not to limit the evidence of the adult baristas giving 

shows. To set M.S.'s arrest in context, Detective Nevin need only to have 
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explained briefly why he was at the stand videotaping the baristas; he did 

not need to describe in graphic detail what the baristas were exposing or to 

show them doing it, both to the jury and public attending the trial. 

General testimony by the adult baristas and M.S. about giving shows and 

why they did them would have adequately described the business culture 

and allowed the state to argue knowledge. The extensive evidence of the 

conduct of the adult baristas beyond that was overwhelmingly and unfairly 

prejudicial and far beyond any relevance. 

The extensive evidence of the lewd conduct of the adult baristas 

unfairly engendered prejudice and implied, in violation of ER 404(b ), that 

Mr. Wheeler was guilty of sexually exploiting a minor because he 

employed adult baristas who engaged in sexually-explicit conduct. 

The most basic rule of evidence is that "[ e ]vidence which is not 

relevant is not admissible," ER 402. Even where evidence is relevant (has 

a tendency to make a fact at issue more or less probable), it should be 

excluded where "its probative value is substantially outweighed by the 

danger of unfair prejudice, confusion of the issues or misleading the jury .. 

. . " ER 401,403. The evidence should have been excluded under a 

straight-forward application of these rules. 

And while ER 404(b) provides that "[ e ]vidence of other crimes, 

wrongs, or acts is not admissible to prove the character," such evidence 
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may be admissible for other purposes "such as proof of. . . plan, 

knowledge," it is never admissible (a) to show that a defendant is the type of 

person who is likely to have committed the crime charged, (b) to prove the 

character of a person to show that he or she acted in conformity therewith 

during the alleged crime, or (c) to show that the accused had the propensity 

to commit the crime. State v. Lough, 125 Wn.2d 847, 853, 889 P.2d 487, 

489 (1995); ER 404(b). "Once a thief, always a thief, is not a valid basis to 

admit evidence." State v. Holmes, 43 Wn. App. 397, 400, 7171 P.2d 766 

(1986). 

Even where evidence is relevant to an essential element of the 

charged crime, the court must balance its probative value against its potential 

for prejudice. Lough, 125 Wn.2d at 853. There is "substantial prejudicial 

effect. .. inherent in ER 404(b) evidence." Lough at 863. "The inevitable 

tendency of such [ER 404(b)] evidence is to raise a legally spurious 

presumption of guilt in the minds of the jurors." State v. Reese, 274 S.W.2d 

307, 307 (Mo.banc 1954). 

Here, the state's theory of the case was that Mr. Wheeler's business 

model of paying the baristas in tips and providing the best shifts to the 

baristas who were most successful at selling coffee inevitably resulted in 

causing M.S. to do shows. But watching the shows and hearing them 

described repeatedly in graphic detail was not relevant to any trial issue and 
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certainly less probative than prejudicial. 

The jury not only heard the adult baristas' testimony that they were 

performing show to augment their tips (RP(7 /24) 68; RP(7 /25) 107-108, 

155); RP(7/26) 18, 26, 82) the jury heard: Detective Nevin's description of 

complaints received from members of the public about lewd conduct 

observed at the espresso stands (RP(7/23) 121-122); Detective Nevin's 

detailed descriptions of the acts he saw the adult baristas perform (RP7/23) 

126-130, 146-163; his narration of the graphic video recordings he made of 

the baristas giving shows RP(7/23) 173-184; RP(7/24) 13-30; other police 

officers' description of shows given by the adult baristas (RP(7/25) 177-178; 

M.S.'s description of the shows she observed other baristas performing 

(RP7/24) 125-126, 132; descriptions of shows by the adult baristas 

(RP(7 /25) 119-120, RP(7 /28) 18; and testimony about and video footage of 

shows performed after M.S.'s arrest. RP(7/29&30) 84-85, 90-102, 122. 

In fact, the overwhelming majority of the testimony and evidence 

introduced at trial had to do with the conduct of the adult baristas or the 

technical aspects of capturing the images. Since it was not limited, the jurors 

were likely left with the impression that Mr. Wheeler was guilty of sexually 

exploiting M.S. simply because a great deal of sexual activity occurred at the 

stand and because he was the type of person to foster sexually explicit 

conduct at his business. 
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The evidence was inherently prejudicial. Lough at 863. It 

inevitably raised" a legally spurious presumption of guilt in the minds of the 

jurors." State v. Reese, 274 S.W.2d 307, 307 (Mo.banc 1954). The error in 

admitting the evidence, without limitation, denied Mr. Wheeler a fair trial 

and should result in the reversal of his conviction. Review should be 

accepted pursuant to RAP 13.4(b) (1) and (4). 

F. CONCLUSION 

Appellant respectfully submits that review should be granted in his 

case and his judgment and sentence reversed and dismissed. At the least, 

the judgment and sentence should be reversed and remanded for retrial in 

which cumulative evidence of the actions of adult baristas should be 

excluded. 

DATED this ie__ day of April, 2016. 

Respectfully submitted, 

LAW OFFICES OF JOHN HENRY BROWNE, P.S. 

BROWNE, WSBA #4677 
ey for Bill Dwayne Wheeler, Jr. 
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TRICKEY, J.- Bill Dwayne Wheeler, Jr. appeals his judgment and sentence 

for his conviction of sexual exploitation of a minor. He contends that the evidence 

is insufficient to support his conviction. He also contends that the trial court erred 

when it denied his motion to dismiss for outrageous government conduct, denied 

his motion to dismiss for mismanagement, denied his motion for a mistrial, 

admitted evidence in violation of ER 404(b), and did not give a unanimity 

instruction. Finding no error, we affirm. 

FACTS 

In January 2013, the Everett Police Department received citizen complaints 

about female baristas engaging in lewd conduct at two drive-through Grab-N-Go 

espresso stands. The Grab-N-Go espresso stands are "bikini barista" stands, 

where the baristas dress in lingerie or bikinis. One stand is located on Everett Mall 

Way in the city of Everett. The other stand is located on Broadway Avenue in the 

city of Everett. Wheeler and James Wiley are co-owners of Grab-N-Go Espresso, 

Inc. Wheeler owns the Everett Mall stand, and Wheeler and Wiley own the 

Broadway stand. 

In response to the complaints, the Everett Police Department's Special 
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Investigations Unit began an undercover investigation. On several occasions in 

January and February 2013, Detective Jeffrey Nevin visited the espresso stands 

and posed as a customer. During these visits, he observed female baristas 

engaging in sexually explicit conduct while serving customers. He saw baristas 

expose their breasts and other intimate areas to customers in exchange for tips. 

On many of these occasions, the baristas exposed themselves to Detective Nevin. 

He captured several of these incidents on video. 

On one of Detective Nevin's visits, M.S. was working. While waiting in the 

line of cars, Detective Nevin watched M.S. expose her breasts to the customer in 

front of him. Detective Nevin then pulled up to the window. After making small 

talk, Detective Nevin asked M.S. if he could "get what the customer in front of [him] 

had."1 M.S. climbed onto the windowsill and told Detective Nevin to put money in 

her underwear. He complied. M.S. then exposed her breasts to the detective and 

told him to come back and visit her. 

After several weeks of undercover investigation, the detectives arrested the 

baristas for violating the city of Everett's adult cabaret and lewd conduct laws. After 

the arrests, the detectives learned that one of the baristas they arrested-M.S.­

was 16 years old. The other baristas were adults. At this point, the detectives 

decided to shift their investigation to the owners of the stands. 

Thereafter, the State charged Wheeler with one count of sexual exploitation 

of a minor. It alleged that Wheeler "on or about the 151 day of January, 2013, 

through the 201h day of February, 2013, aided, invited, employed, authorized, and 

1 Report of Proceedings (RP} (July 23, 2014} at 162. 
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caused a minor, to wit: M.S .... to engage in sexually explicit conduct, knowing 

that such conduct would be photographed and part of a live performance."2 The 

Snohomish County Prosecuting Attorney and the Washington State Attorney 

General's Office gave Detective Nevin immunity for his role in the investigation. 

Wheeler moved for a dismissal based on outrageous government conduct. 

He argued that Detective Nevin committed a crime by encouraging M.S. to engage 

in sexually explicit conduct and that his actions were so outrageous that it violated 

due process. The court later denied this motion. 

The case proceeded to a jury trial. The State's theory of the case was that 

Wheeler invited or caused M.S. to engage in sexually explicit conduct through his 

business practices. The State argued that Wheeler was heavily involved in the 

operations of the business and that he put standards in place that forced M.S. to 

be competitive with other baristas working at the stands. The State argued that 

this was all part of Wheeler's plan to make money and to increase sales. 

In support of its theory, the State presented testimony from several baristas, 

including M.S. In general, the baristas testified about the operations of the 

business, including pay structure and scheduling. They also testified about 

Wheeler's involvement in the business. They explained that Wheeler managed 

and monitored the stands, assigned the schedules, and set the rules. Additionally, 

the baristas testified about performing sexually explicit shows for customers. They 

explained that they earned more money when they performed shows, because 

they saw a significant increase in tips. 

2 Clerk's Papers (CP) at 452. 
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The State also presented testimony from Detective Nevin and Detective 

Jeffrey Shattuck. Detective Nevin detailed his role in the undercover investigation. 

The court admitted several of Detective Nevin's video recordings of the baristas 

performing sexually explicit shows. One of these videos depicted M.S. The other 

videos depicted adult baristas. 

Detective Shattuck testified about recovering footage from a surveillance 

system that he had seized from the Everett Mall stand on March 6, 2013. He 

testified that he recovered approximately eight days of footage. He explained that 

he calculated this by counting back to the oldest recorded footage, which was from 

February 26, 2013. 

Detective Nevin testified that he reviewed this footage. He stated that he 

observed approximately 37 sexually explicit shows in the eight days of footage. 

From this footage, the court admitted 10 videos clips that showed the baristas 

engaging in sexually explicit acts. The court excluded another video clip because 

it was cumulative and prejudicial. 

At the close of the State's case, defense counsel informed the court that he 

had discovered that the surveillance footage did not include eight days of footage 

as the detectives had testified. The footage was missing March 4, 5, and 6 and 

contained duplicate footage. Wheeler moved for dismissal based on 

mismanagement. In the alternative, he moved for a mistrial or to strike Detective 

Nevin's testimony in its entirety. The court recessed for the parties to determine 

whether the surveillance system, which was at the Everett Police Department, had 

the missing footage. 

4 
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Later that day, the court conducted a hearing outside the presence of the 

jury. Detective Shattuck testified at the hearing that the surveillance system was 

now corrupted and no longer worked. The parties were thus unable to determine 

whether it had the missing footage. Detective Shattuck also testified that he 

provided everything he had downloaded to the State, who in turn, provided it all to 

the defense.3 He did not think that there ever existed any footage from March 4, 

5, and 6. On cross-examination, Detective Shattuck admitted that the surveillance 

system was recording when he seized it on March 6 and that there should be 

footage until that date. He also admitted that if the system had remained plugged 

in, it is less likely that it would be corrupted. 

After hearing argument from the parties, the court denied Wheeler's motions 

for dismissal, a mistrial, and to strike the testimony of Detective Nevin in its entirety. 

Over Wheeler's objection, the court issued a curative instruction, directing the jury 

"to disregard the testimony of Detective Nevin and Detective Shattuck that there 

was a total of eight days of video surveillance footage from the Everett Mall stand."4 

The jury convicted Wheeler as charged. Wheeler appeals. 

ANALYSIS 

Sufficiency 

Wheeler contends that the evidence was insufficient to sustain his 

conviction. He argues that, at most, the evidence showed that he tried to run a 

successful business. We disagree. 

Due process requires the State to prove beyond a reasonable doubt all the 

3 RP (July 31, 2014) at 38, 51. 
4 RP (July 31, 2014) at 119. 
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necessary facts of the crime charged. State v. Colquitt, 133 Wn. App. 789, 796, 

137 P.3d 892 (2006). "The test for determining the sufficiency of the evidence is 

whether, after viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the State, any 

rational trier of fact could have found guilt beyond a reasonable doubt." State v. 

Salinas, 119 Wn.2d 192, 201, 829 P.2d 1068 (1992}. "(A]II reasonable inferences 

from the evidence must be drawn in favor of the State and interpreted most strongly 

against the defendant." Salinas, 119 Wn.2d at 201. "A claim of insufficiency 

admits the truth of the State's evidence and all inferences that reasonably can be 

drawn therefrom." Salinas, 119 Wn.2d at 201. 

Circumstantial evidence and direct evidence can be equally reliable. State 

v. Delmarter, 94 Wn.2d 634, 638, 618 P.2d 99 (1980). We must defer to the trier 

of fact on issues of conflicting testimony, credibility of witnesses, and the 

persuasiveness of evidence. State v. Thomas, 150 Wn.2d 821, 874-75, 83 P.3d 

970 (2004). 

A person is guilty of sexually exploiting a minor if the person "[a]ids, invites, 

employs, authorizes, or causes a minor to engage in sexually explicit conduct, 

knowing that such conduct will be photographed or part of a live performance." 

RCW 9.68A.040(1 )(b). 

The words "aids, invites, employs, authorizes or causes" are not defined in 

the statute. In State v. Chester, our Supreme Court defined these terms after 

consulting a dictionary. 133 Wn.2d 15, 22, 940 P.2d 1374 (1997). The Supreme 

Court also stated that the terms require "some affirmative act of assistance, 

interaction, influence or communication on the part of the defendant which initiates 

6 
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and results in a child's display of sexually explicit conduct." Chester, 133 Wn.2d 

at 22. 

Here, to convict Wheeler of sexual exploitation of a minor, the jury had to 

find beyond a reasonable doubt that (1) "on or about the 1st day of January, 2013 

through the 20th day of February, 2013, [Wheeler] did invite or cause a minor to 

engage in sexually explicit conduct;" {2) Wheeler "did know the conduct would be 

photographed or would be part of a live performance;" and (3) "these acts occurred 

in the State ofWashington."5 

The court instructed the jury that "'[i]nvite' means to offer an incentive or 

inducement; and requires some affirmative act of that nature on the part of the 

defendant."6 It instructed the jury that '"[c)ause' means to be the cause of, to bring 

about, or to induce; and requires some affirmative act of that nature on the part of 

the defendant. "7 

In this case, there is no dispute that M.S. was a minor and that Wheeler 

knew that M.S. was 16 years old. There is also no dispute that M.S. engaged in 

sexually explicit conduct and that the conduct was part of a live performance. M.S. 

testified to these facts at trial. The contested issue is whether the State presented 

sufficient evidence to establish that Wheeler invited or caused M.S. to perform the 

shows. We conclude that it did. 

Testimony at trial established that Wheeler did not pay his baristas an hourly 

wage. Each barista's pay was based solely on tips. The baristas testified that they 

5 CP at 145. 
6 CP at 146. 
7 CP at 147. 
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made significantly less money without giving shows then when they gave shows. 

Wheeler scheduled the baristas with the highest sales for the busier and more 

desirable shifts. Additionally, Wheeler set a sales quota for each shift. He required 

there to be $300 in the till after a weekday shift and $150 in the till after a weekend 

shift. 8 If the barista did not make her daily sales quota, Wheeler required her to 

make up the difference. This evidence supports the State's theory that Wheeler 

invited or caused M.S.'s conduct by setting up a business model that rewarded 

baristas for exposing themselves with better conditions and better income. 

M.S.'s testimony further confirms the State's business model theory. M.S. 

testified that at the end of each shift, Wheeler would count the till. If the till was 

short, Wheeler would "make a comment or say, you need to make sure that you 

get your sales up to the volumes of that."9 Significantly, M.S. offered the following 

explanation for why she performed sexually explicit shows for customers: 

Because there was a standard set by the girls that were doing it, all 
those things. And there was pressure from [Wheelerj to, you know, 
you need to make more money and get more customers or you're 
not going to be on the schedule. And the girls that made the most 
money got put on the schedule.!10l 

M.S. explained that the girls set the standard by "giving other shows, the customers 

expect shows."11 And she explained that the girls who gave shows had the most 

customers. M.S.'s testimony reveals that Wheeler's comments and practices 

invited or caused her to engage in sexually explicit conduct by pressuring her to 

make more money and get more customers in order to keep her job. 

8 RP (July 24, 2014) at 133. 
9 RP (July 24, 2014) at 136. 
10 RP (July 24, 2014) at 139-40 (emphasis added). 
11 RP (July 25, 2014) at 68. 
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Additionally, substantial evidence establishes that Wheeler knew that M.S. 

performed shows. M.S. testified that Wheeler was present during discussions 

about shows and how to avoid getting caught. She said that she had conversations 

about shows in front of Wheeler on two or three separate occasions. M.S. also 

testified that at the end of each shift, Wheeler reviewed surveillance footage from 

inside the stand. She further testified that she showed her breasts to customers a 

couple times per shift. Moreover, another barista testified that Wheeler told her 

that M.S. would let customers touch her and that M.S. performed shows. She 

testified that Wheeler knew this because he could monitor the stand's surveillance 

footage remotely from his cell phone. 

Viewing this evidence in the light most favorable to the State, we conclude 

that it is sufficient to establish that Wheeler invited or caused M.S. to engage in 

sexually explicit conduct and that he knew it would be part of a live performance. 

Wheeler points to evidence in the record that negates the State's theory. 

For example, the evidence established that one barista did not perform shows. 

Additionally, several baristas testified that Wheeler told them not to do shows. But 

we must defer to the trier of fact on issues of conflicting testimony, credibility of 

witnesses, and the persuasiveness of evidence. Thomas, 150 Wn.2d at 874-75. 

Accordingly, we reject this argument. 

Outrageous Conduct 

Wheeler contends that the trial court erred when it denied his motion to 

dismiss the charge against him based on outrageous government conduct. He 

relies on State v. Lively, 130 Wn.2d 1, 19, 921 P.2d 1035 (1996), to assert that 

9 
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outrageous government conduct violated his due process rights. 12 We disagree. 

"[O]utrageous conduct is founded on the principle that the conduct of law 

enforcement officers and informants may be 'so outrageous that due process 

principles would absolutely bar the government from invoking judicial processes to 

obtain a conviction."' Lively, 130 Wn.2d at 19 (quoting United States v. Russell, 

411 U.S. 423, 431-32, 93 S. Ct. 1637, 36 L. Ed. 2d 366 (1973)). For police conduct 

to violate due process, "the conduct must be so shocking that it violates 

fundamental fairness." Lively, 130 Wn.2d at 19. Examples of outrageous conduct 

include "those cases where the government conduct is so integrally involved in the 

offense that the government agents direct the crime from beginning to end, or 

where the crime is fabricated by the police to obtain a defendant's conviction, 

rather than to protect the public from criminal behavior." Lively, 130 Wn.2d at 21. 

A claim based on outrageous conduct requires "more than a mere 

demonstration of flagrant police conduct." Lively, 130 Wn.2d at 20. "Public policy 

allows for some deceitful conduct and violation of criminal laws by the police in 

order to detect and eliminate criminal activity." Lively, 130 Wn.2d at 20. "Dismissal 

based on outrageous conduct is reserved for only the most egregious 

circumstances." Lively, 130 Wn.2d at 20. 

In reviewing a defense of outrageous government conduct, the court 

evaluates the conduct based on the totality of the circumstances. Lively, 130 

Wn.2d at 21. There are several factors to consider when determining whether 

12 Wheeler moved for dismissal pursuant to CrR 8.3(b) as well as the state and federal 
constitutions. On appeal, however, he relies solely on the state and federal constitutional 
right to due process to argue that dismissal was warranted. 

10 
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police conduct offends due process: (1) "whether the police conduct instigated a 

crime or merely infiltrated ongoing criminal activity," (2) "whether the defendant's 

reluctance to commit a crime was overcome by pleas of sympathy, promises of 

excessive profits, or persistent solicitation," (3) "whether the government controls 

the criminal activity or simply allows for the criminal activity to occur," (4) whether 

the police motive was to prevent crime or protect the public," (5) "whether the 

government conduct itself amounted to criminal activity or conduct 'repugnant to a 

sense of justice."' Livel~. 130 Wn.2d at 22. Whether the State has engaged in 

outrageous conduct is a matter of law, not a question for the jury. livel~. 130 

Wn.2d at 19. 

In State v. livel~. our Supreme Court concluded that the State's actions 

constituted outrageous conduct in violation of the defendant's due process rights. 

130 Wn.2d at 1. There, the State charged Amy Lively with two counts of delivery 

of cocaine after she made two deliveries at the request of the State's informant. 

At the time of the offenses, Lively was raising two small children alone. She had 

become addicted to cocaine and alcohol at age 14 and had sought treatment 

several times. lively met the police informant at an Alcoholics 

Anonymous/Narcotics Anonymous meeting. She had recently attempted suicide 

and was emotionally distraught. The informant asked Lively out on a date two 

weeks after they met, and the two developed a close relationship and moved in 

together. The informant repeatedly asked Lively to obtain cocaine for him. Lively, 

130 Wn.2d at 6-7. Lively had no criminal history prior to the events of the case 

and "no apparent predisposition" to engage in such conduct. Lively, 130 Wn.2d at 

11 
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15. She ultimately complied with the informant's requests, and the State 

subsequently brought charges. 

Relying on the factors outlined earlier, the Supreme Court determined that 

the State's conduct warranted dismissal of the charges. First, the informant did 

not infiltrate an ongoing criminal activity but instead established a relationship with 

Lively for the purpose of instigating a crime. Lively, 130 Wn.2d at 23. Second, 

Lively's reluctance to commit a crime was purposely overcome by the State by 

taking advantage of her emotional reliance on the informant. Lively, 130 Wn.2d at 

24-25. Third, the informant controlled the criminal activity "from start to finish." 

lively, 130 Wn.2d at 26. Fourth, the government conduct demonstrated a greater 

interest in creating crimes to prosecute than in protecting the public from criminal 

behavior. Lively, 130 Wn.2d at 26. Fifth, and most importantly, the conduct was 

"so outrageous that it shock[ed] the universal sense of justice." Lively, 130 Wn.2d 

at 26. 

The conduct in this case is far different from that in Lively. There, the 

informant contacted an emotionally vulnerable woman with no predisposition to 

engage in illegal activity for the sole purpose of involving her in police sponsored 

drug activity. There was no demonstration that she was involved in criminal activity 

prior to the State's involvement. Here, in contrast, Detective Nevin did not 

establish a relationship with M.S. for the purpose of instigating a crime. Rather, 

he was at the espresso stand to investigate ongoing criminal activity. M.S. was 

already engaging in the illegal activity when Detective Nevin contacted her. In fact, 

Detective Nevin directly observed M.S. engage in illegal activity before he asked 

12 
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her to repeat the illegal conduct. Additionally, in contrast to Lively, M.S. was not 

reluctant to engage in such conduct. She agreed after Detective Nevin asked her 

once. And although Detective Nevin initiated M.S.'s conduct on that one occasion, 

he did not control her criminal activity from start to finish. 

Further, Detective Nevin's motive was to prevent further crime. The 

detectives were responding directly to citizen complaints. Unlike in Lively, the 

government conduct in this case demonstrates a greater interest in preventing 

criminal behavior than in initiating it. 

As the State admits, Detective Nevin's conduct was technically a crime. It 

is not a defense to a charge of sexual exploitation of a minor that the person did 

not know the alleged victim's age. RCW 9.68A.110(3}. Nor is it a defense that the 

individual was involved in law enforcement activities in the investigation of criminal 

offenses. RCW9.68A.110(1). 

But as Lively noted, public policy allows for some deceitful conduct and 

violation of criminal laws by the police in order to detect and eliminate criminal 

activity. 130 Wn.2d at 20. Washington courts have rejected the outrageous 

conduct defense even in cases where police engage in illegal activities. State v. 

Markwart, 182 Wn. App. 335, 349-50, 329 P.3d 108 (2014). For example, in State 

v. JessuQ, this court held that dismissal was not warranted based on the fact that 

a government agent engaged in acts of prostitution. 31 Wn. App. 304, 313-14, 

641 P.2d 1185 (1982). Here, there is no evidence that Detective Nevin knew that 

M.S. was underage or that any of the baristas working at the stand were underage. 

Detective Nevin's conduct was not so outrageous that it violates fundamental 

13 
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fairness. The circumstances of this case do not support dismissal. 

Mismanagement 

Wheeler argues that the trial court abused its discretion when it denied his 

CrR 8.3(b) motion for dismissal based on the State's purported mismanagement 

of a video surveillance system that it had in evidence. We disagree. 

CrR 8.3(b) provides: 

The court, in the furtherance of justice, after notice and hearing, may 
dismiss any criminal prosecution due to arbitrary action or 
governmental misconduct when there has been prejudice to the 
rights of the accused which materially affect the accused's rights to 
a fair trial. 

In order to succeed on a CrR 8.3(b) motion to dismiss, the defendant must 

show by a preponderance of the evidence "(1) 'arbitrary action or governmental 

misconduct' and (2) 'prejudice affecting the defendant's right to a fair trial.'" State 

v. Rohrich, 149 Wn.2d 647, 654, 71 P.3d 638 (2003) (quoting State v. Michielli, 

132 Wn.2d 229, 239-40, 937 P.2d 587 (1997)). "Although mismanagement is 

sufficient to establish governmental misconduct, dismissal under CrR 8.3(b) is an 

extraordinary remedy used only in truly egregious cases." State v. Flinn, 119 Wn. 

App. 232, 247, 80 P.3d 171 (2003). 

We review a trial court's decision to dismiss charges under the abuse of 

discretion standard. Michielli, 132 Wn.2d at 240. A trial court abuses its discretion 

when its decision is manifestly unreasonable or is exercised on untenable grounds 

or for untenable reasons. Michielli, 132 Wn.2d at 240. 

Here, as we explained earlier, the footage from the surveillance system did 

not include eight days of footage as the detectives had testified. The footage was 

14 
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missing March 4, 5, and 6. At trial, the parties were unable to determine whether 

the surveillance system in evidence had the missing footage, because the 

surveillance system had become corrupted. Detective Shattuck did not know the 

reason for this, but he testified that if the surveillance system had been plugged in, 

it was less likely that it would be corrupted. Based on this, Wheeler moved for 

dismissal under CrR 8.3(b) for the State's failure to maintain the surveillance 

system by keeping it plugged in. 

The trial court denied Wheeler's motion. It noted that the issue of the 

missing footage should have been explored earlier. Additionally, it stated that the 

significance of this footage was speculative. And it stated that because the record 

was unclear about why there was no footage from March 4, 5, and 6, "the notion 

that there is real mismanagement on this particular point is speculative.~13 The 

court determined that the error could be corrected with a curative instruction. 

The court's ruling was not an abuse of discretion. The State provided 

Wheeler with all of the surveillance footage that it had downloaded. It is unclear 

whether footage from March 4, 5, and 6 ever existed on the surveillance system. 

It is also unclear whether the State was responsible for the lack of any footage 

from those days. Accordingly, this record does not show by a preponderance of 

the evidence mismanagement on the part of the State. 

Further, Wheeler fails to show that the alleged mismanagement prejudiced 

his right to a fair trial. As the court noted, the significance of any missing footage 

was speculative. Moreover, the trial court's instruction to the jury cured any 

13 RP (July 31, 2014) at 103. 
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prejudice resulting from the erroneous testimony. Despite Wheeler's assertion to 

the contrary, the trial court did not place the burden on the defense to correct the 

State's mismanagement. The facts of this case do not show egregious conduct 

warranting dismissal. 

Mistrial 

Wheeler argues that the court abused its discretion when it denied his 

motion for a mistrial based on mismanagement. We disagree. 

To determine whether a trial irregularity warrants a new trial, we examine 

the seriousness of the irregularity, whether it involved cumulative evidence, and 

whether the trial court properly instructed the jury to disregard it. State v. Emery, 

174 Wn.2d 741, 765, 278 P.3d 653 (2012). "[A) trial court should grant a mistrial 

only when the defendant has been so prejudiced that nothing short of a new trial 

can ensure that the defendant will be fairly tried." Emery, 174 Wn.2d at 765. 

We review the trial court's denial of a motion for a mistrial for abuse of 

discretion. Emerv, 174 Wn.2d at 765. Denial of a mistrial should be overturned 

only when there is a "'substantial likelihood"' that the error affected the jury's 

verdict. State v. Rodriguez, 146 Wn.2d 260, 269-70, 45 P.3d 541 (2002) (internal 

quotation marks omitted) (quoting State v. Russell, 125 Wn.2d 24, 85, 882 P.2d 

747 (1994)). 

Here, the trial court did not abuse its discretion when it denied Wheeler's 

motion for a mistrial after the parties discovered that there was missing 

surveillance footage and the detectives erroneously testified that there was eight 

days of footage. The admission of the erroneous testimony was not serious 

16 
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because the precise number of days of video footage was minimally relevant to 

the issues before the jury. Further, the detectives' mistaken understanding about 

the number of days of footage did not affect their testimony about the content of 

the footage. And the detectives' testimony about the content of the footage was 

cumulative with much of the other evidence presented at trial. Moreover, the 

erroneous testimony was cured by the court's instruction to "disregard the 

testimony of Detective Nevin and Detective Shattuck that there was a total of eight 

days of video surveillance footage from the Everett Mall stand."14 In short, there 

is not a "substantial likelihood" that the error affected the jury's verdict. 

False Testimony 

Wheeler argues that his conviction should be reversed because "the case 

went to the jury with false testimony."15 We disagree. 

The due process clause of the Fourteenth Amendment imposes on 

prosecutors a duty not to introduce perjured testimony or use evidence known to 

be false to convict a defendant. Napue v. People of State of Ill., 360 U.S. 264, 

269, 79 S. Ct. 1173, 3 L. Ed. 2d 1217 (1959). This duty requires the prosecutor to 

correct state witnesses who testify falsely. Napue, 360 U.S. at 269; State v. 

Finnegan, 6 Wn. App. 612, 616, 495 P.2d 674 (1972). "A conviction obtained by 

the knowing use of perjured testimony is fundamentally unfair and must be set 

aside if there is any reasonable likelihood that the false testimony could have 

affected the judgment of the jury." State v. Larson, 160 Wn. App. 577, 594, 249 

P.3d 669 (2011). 

14 RP (July 31, 2014) at 119. 
15 Opening Sr. of Appellant at 39 (boldface and capitalization omitted). 
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Here, the State did not use false evidence to obtain a conviction. Although 

both Detective Nevin and Detective Shattuck erroneously testified that they 

recovered and reviewed eight days of surveillance footage, the court corrected this 

testimony with a curative instruction "to disregard the testimony of [the two 

detectives] that there was a total of eight days of video surveillance footage from 

the Everett Mall stand."16 We presume that the jury followed the court's 

instructions. Emery, 174 Wn.2d at 766. 

Wheeler argues that the curative instruction was inadequate. He asserts 

that the jury "was not told that the footage contained duplication or that footage 

that was on the system when the police took it was lost and could not be 

recovered."17 And he asserts that the instruction "ignores that there were 

substantial problems with the footage that was captured and the testimony that 

thirty-seven shows by baristas were on the footage."18 

But there is no showing on this record that the missing footage affected the 

detectives' testimony about the content of the remaining footage. Thus, Wheeler 

fails to show that the detectives' testimony was false. Moreover, testimony about 

the precise number of days of video or precise number of shows by the baristas 

on the footage was minimally relevant. Thus, there is not a reasonable likelihood 

that false testimony on these issues could have affected the judgment of the jury. 

Evidentiary Ruling 

Wheeler argues that the trial court abused its discretion in admitting 

16 RP (July 31, 2014) at 119. 
n Opening Br. of Appellant at 39. 
18 Reply Sr. of Appellant at 18. 
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evidence of alleged prior bad acts of the adult baristas. Although he acknowledges 

that some of this evidence was relevant and admissible, he claims that the quantity 

of evidence was unfairly prejudicial. We reject his claim. 

Under ER 404(b), "Evidence of other crimes, wrongs, or acts is not 

admissible to prove the character of a person in order to show action in conformity 

therewith." Such evidence may be admissible for other purposes, however, such 

as "proof of motive, opportunity, intent, preparation, plan, knowledge, identity, or 

absence of mistake or accident." ER 404(b). Another proper purpose is to show 

the existence of a common scheme or plan. State v. Gresham, 173 Wn.2d 405, 

421-22, 269 P.3d 207 (2012). 

To admit evidence of a person's prior misconduct, the trial court must '"(1) 

find by a preponderance of the evidence that the misconduct occurred, (2) identify 

the purpose for which the evidence is sought to be introduced, (3) determine 

whether the evidence is relevant to prove an element of the crime charged, and 

(4} weigh the probative value against the prejudicial effect."' Gresham, 173 Wn.2d 

at 421 (quoting State v. Vy Thang, 145 Wn.2d 630, 642,41 P.3d 1159 (2002)). 

We review a trial court's decision to admit evidence under ER 404(b) for 

abuse of discretion. State v. Fisher, 165 Wn.2d 727, 745, 202 P.3d 937 (2009). A 

trial court abuses its discretion only when its decision is manifestly unreasonable 

or based on untenable grounds. State ex rei. Carroll v. Junker, 79 Wn.2d 12, 26, 

482 P.2d 775 (1971). 

Here, prior to trial, Wheeler moved in limine pursuant to ER 404(b) to 

exclude any evidence that adult baristas performed "shows" or engaged in lewd 

19 
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conduct.19 He argued that such evidence was not indicative of a common scheme 

or plan, because M.S. was the only minor. He also argued that the evidence was 

not relevant and was more prejudicial than probative. 

The trial court questioned whether ER 404(b) applied, noting that the 

conduct was not Wheeler's prior conduct but rather was conduct of third parties. 

Nonetheless, it applied ER 404(b) by analogy and determined that the evidence 

was admissible. First, it stated that at least a portion of the evidence was 

admissible under the res gestae exception. The court then conducted a thorough 

analysis of the four ER 404(b) factors on the record. It concluded that the evidence 

was relevant to show a common scheme, plan, or business practice at the 

espresso stands and to show Wheeler's knowledge. The court noted that the 

evidence was prejudicial in the sense that it was "unpleasant," but because the 

evidence was not of Wheeler's actions, the court reasoned that it was not the same 

kind of "direct prejudice."20 Because the relevancy of the evidence was 

"significant," the court determined that the potential relevance outweighed the 

potential prejudice and the evidence was admissible.21 

At trial, the court admitted testimony from two detectives and five baristas 

detailing the adult baristas' sexually explicit shows. It admitted several video 

recordings taken by Detective Nevin that depicted the baristas giving sexually 

explicit shows. And it admitted several video clips from the Everett Mall stand's 

surveillance system that depicted the baristas giving sexually explicit shows. 

19 CP at 205. 
20 RP (July 23, 2014) at 36-37. 
21 RP (July 23, 2014} at 37. 
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Wheeler did not object to any of this evidence on the basis that it was cumulative. 

Nonetheless, the court excluded one clip from the surveillance system due to its 

cumulative and prejudicial nature. 

Assuming that Wheeler preserved the argument he raises on appeal, we 

conclude that the trial court properly exercised its discretion when it admitted this 

evidence. As the court stated, evidence that the adult baristas performed shows 

was highly relevant. Wheeler concedes this point, stating that "[s]ome testimony 

about the business structure and culture of the espresso stands was relevant to 

both guilt and innocence of the charged crime."22 Further, this evidence was less 

likely to invoke a negative emotional response toward Wheeler because it was not 

evidence of his prior conduct but rather the conduct of third parties. Finally, the 

record shows that the court carefully considered the nature of each video clip and 

its probative value before determining whether it should be admitted. It did not 

abuse its discretion when it excluded only one video clip. 

Unanimity Instruction 

Wheeler argues that his conviction must be reversed because the trial court 

failed to give a unanimity instruction. We disagree. 

Criminal defendants in Washington are entitled to a unanimous jury verdict. 

State v. Ortega-Martinez, 124 Wn.2d 702, 707, 881 P.2d 231 (1994). When the 

State presents evidence of several acts that could form the basis of one count 

charged, either the State must elect the act it relies on for the conviction or the 

court must instruct the jury to agree on a specific criminal act. State v. Kitchen, 

22 Opening Br. of Appellant at 28. 
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110 Wn.2d 403, 409, 756 P.2d 105 (1988). If neither of these alternatives occurs, 

a constitutional error arises because of the possibility that some jurors may have 

relied on one of the criminal acts while other jurors relied on another, resulting in 

a lack of unanimity on all of the elements necessary for a conviction. State v. 

Greathouse, 113 Wn. App. 889,916,56 P.3d 569 (2002). 

No election or unanimity instruction is required, however, if the evidence 

shows that the several acts constitute a '"continuing course of conduct."' State v. 

Handran, 113 Wn.2d 11, 17, 775 P.2d 453 (1989) (quoting State v. Petrich, 101 

Wn.2d 566, 571, 683 P.2d 173 (1984)). We evaluate the facts in a commonsense 

manner to decide whether criminal conduct constitutes a continuing course of 

conduct. Handran, 113 Wn.2d at 17. 

Generally, where the evidence involves conduct at different times and 

places, then the evidence tends to show several distinct acts rather than a 

continuing course of conduct. Hand ran, 113 Wn.2d at 17. Merely having the same 

victim is not enough in itself to demonstrate that the offense was one continuing 

offense. State v. Fiallo-Lopez, 78 Wn. App. 717, 724, 899 P.2d 1294 (1995). But 

"evidence that a defendant engages in a series of actions intended to secure the 

same objective supports the characterization of those actions as a continuing 

course of conduct rather than several distinct acts." Fiallo-Lopez, 78 Wn. App. at 

724. 

In State v. Barrington, this court concluded that the defendant's acts were 

a continuing course of conduct rather than separate distinct acts. 52 Wn. App. 

478, 481-82, 761 P.2d 632 (1988). There, the defendant promoted a prostitution 
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enterprise over three months, involving one woman and a "single objective-to 

make money." Barrington, 52 Wn. App. at 481. This court reasoned that the 

incidents of prostitution "were primarily illustrative of the nature of the enterprise 

rather than solely descriptive of separate distinct acts or transactions." Barrington, 

52 Wn. App. at 481. It concluded that neither a unanimity instruction nor an 

election was required. Barrington, 52 Wn. App. at 482. 

Division Two applied Barrington's reasoning in State v. Knutz, 161 Wn. App. 

395,409, 253 P.3d 437 (2011). Over the course of three years, Lisa Knutz had 

obtained several cash loans from Robert J. Von Gruenigen after proffering various 

lies. Knutz, 161 Wn. App. at 399-400. Division Two, reasoning that "Knutz used 

Von Gruenigen 'to promote an enterprise with a single objective'-to obtain money 

through deceit," concluded that Knutz's several acts of fraud constituted a 

continuing course of conduct. Knutz, 161 Wn. App. at 409. 

Here, M.S. testified that she worked at the Broadway stand twice and the 

Everett Mall stand five to eight times. She testified that she showed her breasts to 

customers "[a] couple times per shift."23 Wheeler argues that each time M.S. 

exposed her breasts was a separate act. In response, the State asserts that the 

facts of this case show a continuing course of conduct for which no unanimity 

instruction was required. 

We agree with the State. The facts of this case show a continuing course 

of conduct. Barrington and Knutz focus on the conduct of the defendant in the 

course of committing the crime, not on the actions of the victims. Like in those 

23 RP (July 24, 2014) at 141. 
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cases, Wheeler's conduct showed that he used M.S. to promote an enterprise with 

a single objection-to make money through the baristas' sexually explicit acts. 

Similar to Barrington, where the incidents of prostitution "were primarily illustrative 

of the nature of the enterprise rather than solely descriptive of separate distinct 

acts or transactions," the explicit shows by M.S. were also illustrative of the nature 

of the enterprise. 52 Wn. App. at 481. Viewed in a commonsense manner, the 

evidence supports the conclusion that Wheeler engaged in a continuing course of 

conduct. No unanimity instruction was required. 

We affirm the judgment and sentence. 

WE CONCUR: 
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